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9 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT -
10 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

1

1;(%&(}514 FRALEY; PAUL WANG; SUSAN e No. rz 2 6
MAINZER; JAMES H. DUVAL, a minby, b 'fi - @ }

13 | and through JAMES DUVAL, as Guardish a ' '
Litem; and WILLIAM TAIT, a minor, by and : :
14 || through RUSSELL TAIT, as Guardian ad Cal. Superior Court, County of Santa Clar:
Litem; individually and on behalf of all others Case No.: 111CV196193

15 || similarly situated,

NoOTiCE OF REMOVAL Or ACTION

16 Plaintiffs, UNDER 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1446, AND
1453(b)

17 V.
Complaint Filed: March 11, 2011

18 | FACEBOOK, INC., a corporation; and DOES

1-100, First Amended Complaint Filed: March
19 18,2011
Defendants.
20
21

22 I To THE CLERK OF THE ABOVE-ENTITLED COURT:

23 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1446, and 1453(b), defendant
24 | Facebook, Inc. (“Facebook™ or “Defendant™), by its undersigned attorneys, hereby removes to

25 | this Court the above-captioned civil action, and all claims and causes of action therein, from the
26 | Superior Court of California, County of Santa Clara, to the United States District Court for the

27 | Northern District of California. Defendant states as follows:

s |
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Jurisdiction and Authority for Removal

1) On March 11, 2011, an action was comunenced by plaintiff Angel Fraley and her
co-plaintiffs (“Plaintiffs”) against Facebook in the Superior Court of the State of California in and
for the County of Santa Clara, entitled “Angel Fraley, Paul Wang, and Susan Mainzer,
individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated v. Facebook, Inc., a corporation, and
DOES 1-100” (“Fraley”), with case number 111CV196193. This removal is therefore timely
under 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b).

2) Attached hereto as Exhibit A are all electronically filed documents in the Fraley
casc file, including a copy of the Fraley Complaint and First Amended Complaint.

3) The Northern District of California encompasses Santa Clara County.

4) This Court has original jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) (the
Class Action Fairness Act (“CAFA™)) because, according to the First Amended Complaint, (a)a
member of ihe putative class is a citizen of a state different from any defendant, 28 U.S.C. §
1332(d)(2)(A); (b) the putative class action consists of at least 100 putative class members, 28
U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)(B); and (c) the amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of
$5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).

5) This action is a “class action” within the meaning of CAFA because Plaintiffs seek
to represent a class of persons in a civil action brought under California Code of Civil Procedure
§ 382 and California Civil Code § 1781 (First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) 9 45-51), which are
“statute[s] . . . of judicial procedure authorizing an action to be brought by 1 or more
representative persons as a class action.” 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(1)}(B).

6) Defendant may thus remove this action to this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1453(b).
Citizenship of Parties and Putative Class (28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2}A)

7) According to the First Amended Complaint (FAC Y 6), Plaintiff Angel Fraley is a
resident of Seattle, King County, Washington.
8) Facebook is a corporation organized under the laws of Delaware with its principal

place of business in Palo Alto, California.

9) Facebook is a social network that enables users to connect and share content with

NOTICE OF REMOVAL
UNDER 28 U.8.C. §§ 1332(d), 1446, AND 1453(b)
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their family and friends. Facebook users reside throughout the United States and the rest of the
world. (FAC 94 13,45)
10)  Plaintiffs seek to represent a class of plaintiffs who reside “in the United States.”

(FAC 9§ 44.) Plaintiffs have defined the putative class as:

All registered Members of facebook.com as of January 24, 2011 in
the United States who are natural persons, who remained registered
through January 25, 2011 or later, and who have had their names,
photographs, likenesses or identities used in a Facebook Sponsored
Stories ad (“the Class”).l

(FAC q44)
11)  Thus, one named plaintiff and other members of the putative class are citizens of a

state other than Delaware or California. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A). -
Number of Class Members (28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)}(B))

12)  Plaintiffs allege that there are “potentially 153 million persons in the Class, and
over 51 million in the Minor Class.” (FAC 945.)

13)  Therefore, there are at least 100 members of Plaintiffs’ putative class. 28 U.S.C.
§ 1332(d)(5XB).
Amount in Centroversy (28 U.S.C, § 1332(d){(2))

14)  Assuming, for purposes of this Notice of Removal, that all of Plaintiffs’
allegations were true and the putative class of plaintiffs were to be certified, the amount in
controversy, exclusive of interest and costs, exceeds $5,000,000. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).

15)  Plaintiffs assert the following claims: (i) violation of California Civil Code section
3344 (misappropriation of the right of publicity), (ii) violation of California Business and
Professions Code section 17200 (unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent business practices), and
(iii) unjust enrichment. Plaintiffs seek actual, statutory, and exemplary damages, restitution,
disgorgement, and recovery of their fees and expenses. (FAC 1Y 56-83.)

16)  According to the First Amended Complaint, “Plaintiffs and Members of the Class

! Plaintiffs also purport to assert claims on behalf of a subclass of minors, which Plaintiffs have
defined as “All persons in the Plaintiff Class who additionally have had their names, photographs,
likenesses or identities used in a Facebook Sponsored Stories ad while under 18 years of age (‘the
Minor Subclags’).” (FAC §44.)

NOTICE OF REMOVAL
UNDER 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1446, AND 1453(h)
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seek also remedy as provided for by Cal. Civ. Code § 3344(a) in the amount equal to the greater
of $750 per incident, or actual damages, any profits attributable to [Defendants’ allegedly
improper conduct], before taking into account any actual damages, punitive damages, attorneys
fees and costs, and any relief as may be appropriate.” (FAC 4 67.)

17)  As noted above, Plaintiffs seek to represent a class that allegedly includes at least
153 million Facebook users. (See supra §12.)

18)  Without taking into account other relief sought by Plaintiffs for their additional
causes of action, and based on the Plaintiffs’ own allegations, Plaintiffs’ demand for statutory
damages for their misappropriation claim under California Civil Code section 3344 places the
amount in controversy in excess of the statutory minimum $5,000,000 for federal diversity
jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).% (See supra 9 16-17.)

Notice to Superior Court of Removali of Civil Action

19}  Defendant will promptly serve a copy of this Notice of Removal on counsel for
Plaintiffs and will file a copy of this Notice of Removal with the Clerk of the Superior Court of
Califomia for the County of Santa Clara pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d).

Dated: April 8, 2011 COOLEY LLP

Matthew D. Brown (196972)

Attorneys for Defendant
FACEBOOK, INC,

? In filing this Notice of Removal, Facebook makes no admissions as to any allegations contained
in Plaintiffs* First Amended Complaint, nor does Facebook waive or forfeit any arguments or

_defenses.

NOTICE OF REMOVAL
UNDER 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1446, AND 1453(b)
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" because FACRBOOK s headquarters and principal place of business is in the City of Palo Alto, County|

| Plaintifis ANGEL FRALEY, PAUL WANG and SUSAN MAINZER, JAMES H. DUVAL, 4
minor, by and through JAMES DUVAL as Guardian ad Litem, and WILLIAM TAIT, & minor,
by and through RUSSELL TAIT, as Guerdian ad Litem ("Plaintffs”) on betaf of themselves ang
all others similarly situated, make the following allegations on information and belief, except.as ta
allegations pertaining to Pleintiffs, which are based on personal knowledge:
1. INTRODUCTION

2. Plaintiffs bring this class action complaint against FPacebook, Inc. (hereafter, “FACEBOOK”) foxj
appropriating the names, photographs, likenesses and identities of Plaintiffs to advertise products,
services or bmﬁc_ls for a commercial ﬁurpose without Plaintiffs’ consent, or the consent of their
or legal guardians when & minor was involved, for unfair and deceptive business pmctioes,‘::‘j
violation of PACEBOOK 's agreement with Plaintiffs, accepted industry standards, and state law.
3. FACEBOOK intentionally and knowingly conducted such actions Without Plaintiffs’ consent, oj
the consent of their parents or legal guardians when a minor was involved, for substantial profit in
scheme to advertise or sell products or services or brands. '

IL. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
4,  This Court has personal jurisdiction over FACEBOOK because (a) a substantial portion of the
wrongdoing alleged in this complaint took place in this state, and (b) FACEBOOK is authorized to dd
business here, has sufficient minimum contacts with this state, and/or otherwise intentionally availy
itself of the markets in this state through the promotion, marketing and sale of products and services iy
this state, to render the exercise of jurizdiction by this Court permissible under traditional notions of
fair play and substantial justice.
5. Venue is proper in this County under the California Code of Civil Procedure section 395 and
Business & Professions Cods section 17203 because this Court is & coust of competent jurisdiction, and

of Santa Clara, State of California.

Page 2
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6. ndivid al_I’;Iainti Cl resentatives, Plaintiff Angel Fraley is a citizen and resident of
Seattle, in King County, Wéshington. Ms. Fraley has been, and still is, a registered member of the
facebook.com web site (hereafter, “Facebook.com”) since before January 25, 2011, At all relevanl
times herein, Ms. ‘Fralcy was a Facebook.com member who, on ong or more occasions during the cluJ
period, in her city of residence, accessed Facebook.com s a registered member to “Post”, employ the
“Like” function, employ a parmer application, or in various locations within the state of Washington,

utilize the Facebook_.oom “Check-in” feature to post her geographical location to her Facebook N
Feed, Sometime later, FACEBOOK caused her name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in
Sponso:ed Story -as an endorsement for a paid advertisement without her consent, and caused tha
advertisement to :e shown tc one or more Faccbook Friends within the state of Washington, California,
and the rest of the United States.

7. Plaintiff Susan Mainzer is & citizen and resident of Los Angeles, California in Los Angelei
County. Ms, Mainzer has been, and still is, a registered Facebook member since before January 25
2011, At all relevant times herein, Ms. Mainzer was 2 Facebook.com member that, on one or mord
occasions during. the class period, in her city of residence, accessed Facebook.com as a registered

member to "Post'" employ the “Like” function, employ a partner application, or in various locatio
within Cahforma, utilize the Facebook “Check-in” feature to post her geographical location to b
Facebook News Feed. Sometime later, FACEBOOK caused her name, photograph, likeness or identi
to appear in & Sponsored Story s an endorsement for a paid advertissment without her consent, and
caused that advertisement to be shown to one or more Facebook Friends within and outside of
California.
8.  Plaintiff Paul Wang is a citizen and resident of Oakiand, Cnhforma in Alarmeds County, M,
ang has been,“and still is, 2 registered Facebook member since before January 25, 2011, At ali
relevant times herein, Mr, Wang was & Facebook.com member that, on one or more 0ccasions during
the class period, in his state of residence, accessed Facebook.com as a registered member to ‘Post”
employ the “Like” funcuon employ a partner application, or in various locations within California,
utilize the Facebook “Check-m” feature to post his geographical location to his Facebook News Feed

Page3
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- Facebook.com member who, on one or more occasions during the Class period, in his siate o

Sometime later, FACEBOOK caused his name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in q
Sponsored Story as an endorsement for a paid advertisement without his consent, and caused thaf
advertissment to be shown to one or more Facebook Friends within and outside of California.

9.  Plaintiff James H. Duval is and at all relevant times was a minor, under 18 years of age, residing]
in Contra Costa, County, California, Jemes H. Duval has been, and stll s, a registersd Facebook
member since before January 25, 2011, At all relevant times herein, James H. Duval was j

residence, accessed Facebook.com as a registered Member to “Post”, employ the “I.ike” function,
employ a partner application, or in various locations within Califomia, utilize the Facebook “Check-in’"
feature to post his geographical location to his Facebook News Feed. Sometime later, on information
and belief, FACEBOOK caused his name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in a Sponsored
Story as an endorsement for a paid advertisement without the consent of his perents, and caused tha
advertisement to be shown to ons or mors Facebook Friends within and outside of California. Jam
Duval is the parent and guardien ad litem of. Jemes H. Duval, -

10, Plaintff Wiltiam Tait is and at all relevant times was & minor, under 18 years of age, residing in
the County of Los Angeles, California. William Tait has been, and still is, a registered Facebook.com
member since before January 25, 201 1. At all relevant times herein, William Tait was a Facebook.co

member who, on one or more occasions during the class period, in his state of residence,

Facebook.com a3 a registered Member to “Post”, employ the “Like” function, employ a
application, or in various locations within California, utilize the Facebook.com “Check-in" feature to
post his geographical location to his Facebook News Feed. Sometime later, on information and belief]
FACEBOOK caused his name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in 8 Sponsored Story as an
endorsement for'a paid advertisement without the consent of his parents, and caused that advertisement
to be shown to ‘ohe or more Facebook Friends within and outside of California, Russefl Tait is the
parent and guardian ad litem of William Tait.
11. Defendant Facebook, Inc. is a carporation organized and exisung under the laws of the state of
Delawsre that maintsins its headquarters and principal place of business in Palo Alio, California)

Page 4
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operating by and under the laws of California. FACEBOOK conducts business throughout California,
the nation and the world. FACEBOOK operates the Internet site facebook.com.
12. ' Defendant Does 1 through 100. Plaintiffs are unaware of the true names and capacities of DoeJ
| through 100, mcluslve, and therefore sue such defendants by fictitious names. Plaintiffs will amend
the complaint to show the true nemes and capacities of the fictitiously named defendants when they are
ascertained. Plamt:ﬂ'x are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that Does I through 100 arg
agenis, joint employers, co-conspirators, employees and/or representatives of the named defendants
Plaintiff is informed and belicves, and on that basis alleges, that the fictitiously named defendants are
Hable to plaintiff and the class members, and each of them, for the conduct and damages alleged herein.
IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS |

13. Dufendant FACEBOOK owns and operates the world’s largest social networking site,
facebook.com. FACEBOOK requires Intemet Members to register (“Members™) in order to po

content to the site, establish social network relationships within the site, and view most of the conteJ
produced by other Facebook.com Members. Members receive an Internet presence on Facebook.com
where they can exchange highly personal messages through text, images, audio and video, and disple
equally personal photos, to an explicitly identified group of frlends, family and acquammnca, as wel

-as those outside of this group. Facebook.com has become an integral part of the lives of approximatel

600 miltion people around the world and has become the de facto method of communication emo:
friends for a significant portion of these Members. Facebook.com has over 148 million Members in the
United States. Over 14 million of these are minors.

14. To become a Member of Facebook.com, persons must register a profile. FACEBOOK required
its Members to submit their true names, email addresses, birth dates, and gender in order to register.
5. A Member gets & “Profile” page, This Profile page displays News Feeds from oth
Facebook.com Members. The part of the Profile page that displays this information is called th

“Wall.”
16. Members are connected to other Members in relationships called “Friends.” A Friend is someone

to whom you have given explicit permission to post content to your “Wall,” to sec information about
you, and to send you messages,

Page 5
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“17. A Member may post information—text, images, web links, and video information—using J

Friends

variety of methods. This information becomes part of the Member’s “News Feed,” which can be seer
by other persons With whom the Member has a relationship as a Friend.

18. FACEBOOK sells highly targeted advertising services that place ads on Members’ Walls and
other pages. FACEBOOK. enjoys substantial profits from this.

19. FACEBOQOK offers Members a variety of features that are enabled by defimlt. FACEBOOCK
roquires Members to prosctively disable those features if Members do ot wart 10 employ them. These
features include *Places” and “Facebook ads”. Many other features cannot be disabled.

20. Posting is the main method of interacting with Pasebook.com and is a feature that s alw:j
coubled. A Member Posts by adding tex, images, web links, and video information 10 his or her N
Feed.

21, “Check-in” allows a Member 10 anfounce i Friends his or her geographical location within the
feature Places. This information is also fed into the Member's News Feed. The locations are quuentl%
linked to business establishments. “Check-in” is ensbled by defauit.
43 “Like” is a button located on pages both inside and outside of Feosbook com. When Membmi
click on Like buttons, they make connections to the “I.iked” item, Connections appear in the Members’
News Feeds.

23. On or around August 18, 2010, FACEBOCK released the feature Places. “Flaces” is a feature
that allows Members to see where his or her friends are and share his or her actual, physical location.
Using Places posts this information to the Member’s News Feed and the News Feed of that Member's

24. On or around Jemuary 25, 2011, FACEBOOK launched a new advestising servios cafled
“Sponsored Stories.” It turns Members’ actions into an endorsed advertisement on their Friends’ pages.
When 8 Member Posts, Likes, Checks-in, or uses an application that integrates with Sponsored Stories)
and the content relates to an advertiser in some progrsmmaﬁcaﬂy-determined way, the posted content,
along with the Member’s profile image and name appears &s an endorsement in 2 paid advertisement on
the pages viewed by some or all of the Friends of that Membez.

Page 6
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25. The Sponsored Stories sexvice is enabled for all Members. Members are unable 1o opt-out of the
service.

26. FACEBQOK's terms of use, comprised of the Statement of Rights and Responsibilities,
(http:lfwww.facebook.comlterms.php?reﬁpf), Privacy Policy (http:llwww.facebook.comlpo!icy.php),
and a variety of references found with tremendous difficubty—if at all—throughout the Faeebook.coﬂ
sitc (collectively reforred to as “Terms of Use” hereafter.) '

27. FACEBOOK’s Terms of Use misicad Members into believing that Members can prohibit the
use of their name Vand profile picture in advertisements:

You can use your privacy settings to imit how your name and profile picture may
be associated with cornmercial, sponsored, or related content (such as a brand you
like) served or enhanced by us. You give us permission to use your name and
profile picture in connection with that content, subject to the limits you place.

Statement of Rights and Responsibilities, Section 10.1 http:llwww.facehook.com!tams.php?ref-—-pf

28. Regarding Posts by a Member, The Privacy Policy states, “ou can comtro! exactly who can seg
it at the time you create it.” (Privacy Policy, Section 3 http:liwwmfawbook.comlpolicy.php)
20, Inspite of the above misieading agsertions in the Terms of Use a Member cannot prevent a Post,
Like, Check-in or application from taking a Member's name, photograph, likeness ot identity and usin
it as an endorsement for a Sponsored Story. From a buried Help Center page, not connected by #oy ii
within fue Privacy Policy or Statement of Rights and Responsibilities peges, FACEBOOKX publi

the following question and answer:

Can I opt out of sesing or being featured in sponsored News Feed stories? While
there is no way to opt out of seeing all or being featured in any Sponsored Stories,
you can remove specific stories by ciicking the "X" displayed in the upper right
side of a story and choosing the appropriate option when prompted.

Sponsored Stories hﬁp:ltwww.faoebook.comlhz!pnfaq=19723

30. The Terms of Use arc “chalienging” for Membess to understand. FACEBOOK, itself

acknowledges tl_1is:
Many websites’ privacy policies are challenging for people to understand because

Page 7
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- identity is sougtﬁ' or received fiom the minor’s parent oF legal guardian.

they are”often writien for regulators and privacy advocates, not the majority of
people -who .actually use those websites, Our own privacy policy has been
criticized as being «583() words of legalese” and "longer than the U.S. constitution
— without the amendments.” Okay, you're right. We agree that privacy policies
can and should be more easily understood,....

«A Privacy Policy Posted Re-imagined For Users Like You”, Facebook Site

Governance (posted February 25,2011)
hnpszllwwvv.facebook.conﬁfbsitegowmance

31. A Member is never required to actively read or agree to the Terms of Use.

33, No consent is sought or received for a Member's action in “Liking,” “Checking in” tobe uﬁed
an endorsement of the advertiser. Even if Members had read the Terms of Use, they could not kno
that thei: likenesses and names would be Iater used in Sponsored Stories ads sent to their Faceboo
Priends: Sponsored Stories &id not exist f the time the Class Members first registered,
FACEBOOK. never properly—if at all—notified Members of the drastic changes to FACEBOOK®
advertising scheme.

33. Where a Memberisa minor, no consent for use of the Member's name, photograph, likencss m)

34, The Member is deprived of payment for the use of his or her profile image, name or any Othﬁ
information used in the endorsed advertissment.
35. The Ternis of Use contain the following choice of law clause:

" You will resolve any claim, cause of action or dispute ("claim") you have with us
arising eut of or relating to this Statement or Facebook exclusively in a state
or federal court located in Santa Clara County. The laws of the State of California
will govern this Statement, 83 well as any claim that might arise between you and
us, without regard fo conflict of law provisions. You agree to submit to the
personal jurisdiction of the courts located in Santa Clara County, California for the
purpose of litigating all such claims.

' p
Statement of Rights and Responsibilitics, Section 15.1 hupzilwww.faccbook.comftemphp?r:ﬁ-pf
Facts Concernin g Plaintiffs’ Actions
36. Plaintiffs each registered a Facebook.com account prior to January 25, 201 1.

Page 8
FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES




© @ 1 & B W -

ORI I
qa\anwﬁﬁgs'ﬁ:ﬁazaﬁzs

)
Eo

47, Plaintiffy secounts have besn continuously active since that time and up 10 the date of thig

action.
38,  Plaintiffs’ each Posted conteat to their News Feeds on or after January 25, 2011,
39, Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereupon allege that their posted content, or some pard

thereof, along with their respective names, photographs, likenesses, or identities, appeared
endorsements of '.a Facebook advertiser, product or service on one or more of the Facebook.com pag
accessed by their Facebook Friends through the Facebook Sponsored Stories advertising service.

40. In other words, their pictures and names were made to appear 8s part of advertisements for
party companies whose products they may or may not have connected with once. Their “Friends” th
saw what appeared to be an advertisement appearing on their Facebook.com pages, with Plaintiff
Fraley, Plainiff Wang, Plaintiff Mainzer, Plaintiff James H. Duvel, or Plaintiff William Tait's profile
image combined with statements such as “Angel Fraley likes {Product X],” “Paul Wang hag checked in
to [Advertiser location Y],” or “Syusan Mainzer likes [Product Z]”, etc. . ,
41, Neither Plaintiffs nor the parents of the minor Plaintiffs, ever consented to the use of their names,
photographs likenesses, or identities to advertise or sell products or services or brands through the
Facebook Sponsored Stories advertising service. Plaintiffs and the parents of the minor PlaiuﬁﬁJ
reasonzbly believed that their names and likenesses would not be so used.
42. The value to an advertiser or selt of advertistments of using the name, photograph, likeness o1l
identity of a Friend is measurebly higher than of using such items of a person unconnecied With the
person to whom the advertisement is being shown, That value is measurable i dollars on & class-widd
basis, . .
43, Plaintiffs were ‘deprived of fair market value remuneration for the use of their names,
photographs likefiesses and identities, and were thus harmed.

V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
44, Plaintiff Class, The class sought to be represented is defined &8 follows:
All registered Members of facebook.com s of January 24, 2011 in the United States
who are natural persons, who remained registered through January 25, 2011 or later, and

Page 9
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who have had their names, photographs, likenesses of identities used in a Facebook
Sponsored Stories ad (“the Class").
Subgclass of Minors, .

All persons in the Plaintiff Class who additionally have had their names,
photographs, likenesses or identities used in a Facebook Sponsored Stories ad while
under 18 years of age (“the Minor Subclass").

Excluded from the Class axe {a) FACEBOOK, its officers and directors, legal
representatives, Successors or essigns; (b) any entity in which FACEBOOK has or had &
coﬁtrolling interest; (c) the judge to whom this case is assigned and the judge's immediate
family; (d) any juror selected to hear this case.

45. The Class is comprised of thousands if not millions of persons, and is therefore so aumernous duJ
joinder in this action would be impracticable. The disposition of their claims through this class action]
will benefit Class Members, the parties and the courts. Upon informstion snd belief, FACEBOOK h
over 600 million Members worldwide, and potentially over 153 million persons in the Class, and ove
51 million in the Minor Class.
4. Upon information end belief, he identites and contact information of the individual Members of
the Class are available through FACEBOOK’s electronic records, |
47. There is a well-defined community of interest in questions of law and fact affecting the Class
These questions of law and fact predominste over individual questions affecting individual Clasq
Members, including, but not limited to, the following:
o Whether Plaintiffs and the Class consented to the use of their names,
photographs, likenesses, or identities in Sponsored Stories;
» Whether FACEBOOK gained a commerciel benefit or some other advantage
by using Plaintiff and the Class' names, photographs, likenesses, or

" identities in Spc_msored Stories;

Page 10
FIRST AMENDEBD CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES




o o8 W St B W

R BB U8B o =Sa & EEHES

25

27

"

o Whether Plaintiffs and the Class were harmed by the nonconsensual uge of
their names, photographs, likenesses, or identities in Sponsored Stories, and
whether FACEBOOK s conduct was a substantial factor in causing that
harm; .

o Whether Class Members are entitled to damages as a result of
FACEBOOK's conduct, and, if so, what is the measure of those damages;

» Whether FACEBOOK's conduct described herein violated Celifornie’s
Unfair Competition Law (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.);

o Whether FACEBOOK was unjustly enriched es a result of its conduct
described herein; .

Whether FACEBOQOK violated California Civil Code section 3344; and

[ 3

« What the value of an endorsement by & non-celebtity is in a social network
- advertisement,

48. FACEBOOK cngaged in a common course of conduct giving riso o the legal rights sought to be
enforced by Class Members. Similar or identical statutory and common law violations, busi
practices and injuries are involved. Individual questions, if any, pale by comparison to the numero
common questions that predominate.
49, The injuries sustained by Members of the Class flow, in each instance, arise from a common
nucleus of o jve facts. In cach case, FACEBOOK caused or permiited the unauthorized
eppropriation of the Pleintff and the Class Members® pames, photographs, likenesses ot idenﬁﬁmT
without adequate or any notice, consent, oT opportunity to withdraw from participation.
s0.  Given the similar nature of the Class Member# claims and the absence of material differences in
the statutes and common laws upon which the Class Members' claims are based, a nationwide class will
be easily menaged by the Court and the parties. .
51, Becsuse of the relatively small sizo of the individual Class Members’ clairas, no Class Membed
could afford to seek legel redress on an individual basis.

' Page 11
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.57, Californie’s Right of Publicity Statute, Californta Civil Code § 3344 el seq. prolects personﬂ

| 65. Each incident is a separate and distinct violation of Cal. Civil Code § 3344.

Sy Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of those of the Class 2 all Members of the Class are similarly

affected by FACEBOOK's uniform and actionable conduct as efleged herein.
53, FACEBOOK has acted and failed to act on grounds generally appliceble to Plaintiffs and th

other Members of the Class, requiring the Court's imposition of uniform relief to ensure compatibl
standards of conduct toward the Members of the Class,

<4 Plaintiffs will fairly and adoqutely protect the intesests of the Class and have retained co
competent and experienced in class action litigation. Plaintiffs have no interests antagonistic to, or in
conflict with, the Class that Plaintiffs seek to represent. ' .
55, Plaintiffs reserve the right to revise the above class definition based ‘on facts learned in

discovery.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of California’s Right of Pablieity Statute, Civil Code § 3344)
56. Plaintiffs incorporate each of the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

from the unauthorized appropriation of the person’s identity by another for commercizal gain.

58, During tiic Class period, FACEBOOK and Does 1-100 knowingly used Plaintiffs’ names,
photographs, or likenesses to directly advertise or sell a product or service. '

59. FACEBOOK did not have Plaintiffs’ consent to do s0. ‘

60. Plaintiffs received no compensation or other consideration for FACEBOOK's (and/or Does 14
100) use thereof.

61. Plaintiffs were harmed by FACEBOOK’s actions,
62. Use of Plaintiffs’ names, photographs, and likenesses were directly connected to FACEBOOK'S
and/or Does 1-100°s commercial use.

63. FACEBOOK's andfor Docs {-100"s actions were a substantial factor in Plaintiffs’ harm.
64. The advertiscments Were not usad in conjunction with news, public affairs, 2 sports broadcast mT

account, or a political campaign.

Page 12
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- can opt out of advertising endorsements, encouraging Membezs to weave Facebook.com into their liv

66. Plaintiffs and Members of the Class therefore seek injunctive relief, and other such preliminaryr
and other equitable or declaratory relief as may be appropriste.

67 Plaintiffs and Members of the Class also seck remedy as provided for by Cal. Civ. Code
3344(a) in the amount equal to the greater of $750 per incident, or actual damages, any profi
attributable to FACEBOOK's (and Does 1-100°s) illegal action, before taking into account &ny ac

damages, punitive damages, attorncys fees and costs, and any relicf as may be appropriate.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17200)

68. Plaintiffs incorporute each of the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

69. As describad herein, FACEBOOK's (and Does 1-1 00’s) nonconsensual use of its Members
names, photographs, and likrenegses is n violation of California's Right to Publicity Statute, Civil Code J
3344, '

70. These violations satisfy the “ynlawful” prong of the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), Cal. Bus
& Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.

71. FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100°s) also violated the “fraudulent” prong of the UCL by e:;cpiicitl#
representing that Members have full control to prevent their appearance in Facebook advertising

inchuding Sponsored Stories, when in reality there is no meaningful way to prevent ohe’s name|
photograph, fikeness o identity from appearing as an endorsement in Sponsored Stories. Plaintiffs each
reasonably belicved that they had only consented fo the types of use discussed in the Terms of UacaT
the time they entered into them; Sponsored Stories did zot then exist.

72.  Alternatively, to the degres the Terms of Use were modified to truthfully represent a Member"
inability to mesizingfully opt out of Sponsored Stories, FACEBOOK violated the “fraudulent” prong 0
the UCL by knowingly and intentionally failing to seek end acquire informed consent regarding suc

changes 10 the Terms of Use.
73. FACEBOOK also violated the “unfair” prong of the UCL by leading Members to believe the:

Page 13
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cease the unlawful practices stated in this Complaint, and (2) award Plaintiff and the Class reasonablo

such that it be_comes indispensible, and then introducing an advertising service from which Memlm%
are unable to opt out.

74, FACEBOOK violated the “ynfair” prong of the UCL by intentionaily profiting from the
ponconsensual endorsements extracted from Members without sharing those profits with thosd
Members.

7s. FACEBOOK’s unfair, deceptive and frandulent practices originated from and/or occurred
primarily in California. Decisions conceming the creation of Sponsored Stories were mede in
California, FACEBOOK maintains all or a substantil part of its computer systems that serve
Facebook.com in California, and all or a substantial part of the code and content that c-ompris%
Sponsored Storics s developed and deployed within and from California,
76. Pursuant to Cal, Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203, Plaintiffs seek an ordet of this Court permanenty]
enjoining FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100’s) from continuing o engags in the snlewful, unfaic and

fraudulent conduct described herein. Plaintiffs seek an order requiring FACEBOOK to ()] immediatel)T .

costs and aftorneys’ fees pursuant to Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. § 1021.5.

77. Plaintiffs each lost money o which they were entitled in the form of compensation for the use of
\heir images and names, and in which they bad a vested interest, by virtue of FACEBOOK's (and th%
1-100’s) conduct. They are entitled to restitution of such sums. ) '

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Unjust Enrichment)

78,  Plaintiffincozporates each of the foregoing allegations es if fully set forth herein.

79. Plaintiff and the Class have conferred a benefit upon FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100°s)
FACEBOOK (and Does l-iOO’g) has received and retained money from advertisers, a portion of which
belong to Plaintiffs and the Class as 2 tesult of co-opting Members names, photographs, likenesses and
identities, and placing them in paid-for advertisements—Sponsored Stories—as described herein.
80. FACEBOQOK (and Does 1-100’s) appreciates or has knowledge of said benefit.

Page 14
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‘64~ PRAYER FOR RELIEF WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually and on beklf ofthe Class, oy

81. Under principles of equity and good conscience, FACEBOOK. (and Does 1-100"s} should not be
permitted to reta.m money belonging to Plaintiffs and the Class that it unjustly received as a result of it.i
actions, -

2. Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered loss as & direct result of FACEBOOK's (and Does 1-100’s)
conduct.

§3. Plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of the Class, seek the imposition of a constructive
frust on and restitution of the proceeds FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100°s) received as a result of |
conduct described herein, as well as attorney's fees and costs pursuant to Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5.

for the following relief:

o Certify this case as a cless action on behalf of the Class defined above, appoinﬁl
Plaintiffs Angel Fraley, Paul Wang, Susan Mainzer, Jomee H. Duval by and through
James Duval, and William Tait by and through Russell Tait, as cless representatives,
and appolnt their counsel as Class co-counsel;

+ Dectare that FACEBOOK's actions, a3 described herein, violate the California Right
o Publicity Act (Cal. Civ. Code § 3344), violste the Unfair Compeition Law, and
have led to unjust enrichment;

s Award injunctive and other equitable relief as is necessary to protect the interests of
the Plaintiffs and the Class, including, inter alia, an order prohibiting FACEBOOK
“from engaging In the wrongful and uniawful acts described herein;

o Disgorge FACEBOOK of all revenue earned from its Sponsored Stories feature duringf
the class period;

¢ Award damages, inciuding statutory demages where applicable, to Plaintiffs and the

'Classinanamoummbedemnﬂnedatuinl; ‘

e Award all economic, monetary, actusl, consequential, and compensatory damages
caused by FACEBOOK’s {and Does 1-100°S) conduct, and if its conduct is proved
willful, award Plaintiffs and the Ciass exemplary damages; '

Page 15
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"Award Plahﬂiﬁ’smgﬂnmw:beirmmnablellﬁgaﬁcumpmmdmmeyfm

Award restitation against FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100') for all maney-to deJ
Plaintifs and the Class aro entitied in equity; '

AwndPEaimif&mdﬂaeampmmdpost-judgtmimmmmm+
aliowshie; and '
Award such othes and further relief as equity and justios may require.

’I‘eh 510) 725-4293
(510) 868-3393

Attorpeys for Plaintiffs
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' business here, has sufficient minimum contacts with this state, and/or otherwise intentionally avail

of Santa Clara, State of Califomia.

1. Plaintiffs ANGEL FRALEY, PAUL WANG and SUSAN MAINZER ("Plaintiffs”) on behalf of
themselves and -all others similarly situated, and make the following allegations on information and
belief, except as to allegations pertaining to Plaintiffs, which are based on personal knowledge:

1. INTRODUCTION
2. Plaintiffs bring this class action complaint against Facebook, Inc. (hereafter, “FACEBOOK?”) for
appropriating the names, photographs, likenesses and identities of Plaintiffs to advertise products,
services or brands for a commercial purpose without Plaintiffs’ consent, for unfair and deceptivg
business practices, and in violation of FACEBOOK’s agreement with Plaintiffs, accepted industry
standards, and state law.
3.  FACEBOOK intentionally and knowingly conducted such actions without Plamtiffs’ consent foy)
substantial profit in a scheme to advertise or sell products or services or brands.

IL. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4,  This Court has personal jurisdiction over FACEBOOK because (a) a substantial portion of theJ
wrongdoing alleged in this complaint took place in this state, and (b) FACEBOOK is authorized to do

jtself of the markets in this state through the promotion, marketing and sale of products and services i
this state, to render the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court permissible under traditional notions of
fair play and substantial justice.

5. Venue is proper in this County under the California Code of Civil Procedure section 395 and
Business & Proft;.gsions Code section 17203 because this Court is a court of competent jurisdiction, and
because FACEBOOK s headquarters and principal place of business is in the City of Palo Alto, County

1. PARTIES
6.  Individual Plaintiff/Class Represeptatives, Plaintiff Angel Fraley is & citizen and resident off
Seattle, Washinﬁton in King County. Ms. Fraley has been, and still is, a registered member of the
facebook.com web site (hereafter, “FACEBOOK™) since before January 25, 2011. At all relevant timeJ

herein, Ms. Fraley was a Facebook member who, on one or more occasions during the class period, i
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her city of residence, accessed Facebook as a registered member to “Post”, employ the “Like” function,
employ a panner application, or in various locations within the state of Washington, utilize the
FACEBOOK “Check-in" feature to post her geopraphical location to her Facebook News Feed
Sometime later, FACEBOOK caused her name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in &
Sponsored Sto:y. as sn endorsement for a paid advertisement, and caused that advertisement to be
shown to one or more “Facebook Friends” within the state of Washington, California, and the rest of
the United States.

7. Plaintiff Susan Mainzer is a citizen and resident of Los Angeles, California in Los Angeleg
County. Ms. Mainzer has been, and still is, a registered Facebook member since before January 25,
2011. At all relevant times herein, Ms. Mainzer was & Facebook member that, on one or more
occasions during the class period, in her city of residence, accessed facebook.com as a registered
member to “Posi”, employ the “Like” function, employ a pariner application, or in various Jocationg
within California, utilize the Facebook “Check-in" feature to post her geographical location to her
Facebook News Feed. Sometime later, FACEBOOK caused her name, photograph, likeness or identity
to appedr in a 'Sponsored Story as an endorsement for a paid advertisement, and caused tha
advertisement to be shown to one or more “Facebook Friends” within and cutside of California.

8. - Pluintiff Paul Wang is a citizen and resident of Oakland, California in Alameda County. Mr.
Wang has been, and still is, a registered Facebook member since before Januvary 25, 2011. At all
relevant times herein, Mr. Wang was a Facebook member that, on one or more occasions during the
class pericd, in his state of residence, accessed facebook.com as a registered member to “Post”, employ
the *Like” ﬁmctit;n, employ a partner application, or in various locations within Califomia, utilize the

| Facebook “Checi;__-in” feature to post his geographical location to his Facebock News Feed. Sometim

later, FACEBOOK caused his name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in & Sponsored Story
an endorsement lfor a paid advertisement, and caused that advertisement to be shown to one or mo
“Facebook Friends” within and outside of California,

9.  Defendant Facebook, Inc. is a Califonia corporation that maintains its Eeadquarters and
principal place of business in Pelo Alto, California. FACEBOOK conducts business throughout
California, the nation and the world. FACEBOOK operates the Internet site facebook.com.
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end view most of the content produced by other Facebook members. Members receive an Intemcy

10. Defendant Does | through 100. Plaintiffs are unaware of the true names and capacities of Doed
1 through 100, inclusive, and therefore sue such defendants by fictitious names. Plaintiffs will amend
the ooﬁpia.int to show the true names and capacities of the fictitiously named defendants when they are
ascertained. Plaintiffs are iﬁfonncd and believe, and on that basis allege, that Does 1 through 100 are
agents, joint employers, co-conspirators, employees and/or representatives of the named defendants|
Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis allcéw. that the fictitiously named defendants are
liable to plainﬁﬁ" and the class members, and each of them, for the conduct and damages alleged herein.
1V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

1l. Defendant- FACEBOOK owns and operates the world’s largest social networking site,
faccbook.com. FACEBOOK requires Internet users of its site to register (who then becom

“members”) in order to post content to the site, establish social network relationships within the site,

presence on Facebook where they can exchange highly personal messages through tmct, images, audia

and video, and display equally personal photos, to an explicitly identified group of friends, family and
acquaintances, as well gs those outside of this group. Facebook has become an integral part of the liv
of approximatelg; 600 million people around the world and has become the de facto method
communication 'amung'friends for a significant portion of these members. Facebook has over 14
million members in the United States. Over 14 million of these are minors.

122 To becom'c a member of Facebook, persons must register a profile. FACEBOOK requires itg
members to subm_it their true names, email addresses, birth dates, and gender in order to register..

13. A member gets a “Profile” page. This Profile page displays News Feeds from other Facebook -

members. The part of the Profile page that displays this information is called the “Wall.”

s e e NT RN T KR B R

14, M~mbers are connected to other members in relationships called “Friends.” A Friend is someon
to whom you have given explicit permission to post content to your “Wall,” to see information abonJ
you, and to send srou messapes.
5. A membeg may post information—text, images, web links, and video information—-using 4
variety of methods. This information becomes part of the member’s *News Feed,” which can be seen
by other persons’with whom the member has a relationship as a Friend.
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16. FACEROQOK sells highly targeted advertising services that place ads on members® Walls and
ofher pages. FACEBOOK enjoys substantial profits from this. '

17. FACEBOOK offers members a variety of features that are enabled by default. FACEBOCK
requires members to pmactive!y disable those features if members do not want to employ them. Thess
features include “Places,” “Check-in," and “Like.” Many other features cannot be disabled.

18. Posting is the main method of interacting with Facebook and is a feature that is always enabled
A member Posts by adding text, images, web links, and video information to his or her News Feed.

19.  “Check-in" allows a member to announce to Friends his or her geographical location within the
feature Places. This information is also fed into the member’s News Feed. The locations ate frequentl
linked to business establishments, “Check-in” is enabled by defauit.

20. *“Liks” is a button which can appear on webpages both inside and outside of Facebook (that is
on third party sites). When members click on Like butions, ibey make connections (o the “Liked” item,
Connections appear in the members® News Feeds.

21, Omneor around Augusl 18, 2010, FACEBOOK released the feature Places. “Places” is & fea
that allows members 10 see where his or her friends are and share his or her actual, physical location
Using Places posts this information to the member’s News Feed.

22.  On or around January 25, 2011, FACEBOOK launched a new advertising service calied
“Sponsored Stories.” It turns members’ actions into an endorsed advertiserent on their Friends’ pages
When a member i’osts, Likes, Checks-in, or uses an application that integrates with Sponsored Stories,
and the content relates to an advertiser in some programmaticaily-determined way, the posted content,
along with the momber’s profile image and name appears as an endorsement in a paid advertisement on
the pages vxewed by some or all of the Friends of that member.
23. The Sponsored Stories service is enabled for all members. Members are unable to opt-out of the
service. .
24, FACEBOOK’S terms of use are comprised of the Statement of Rights and Responsibilities;
(hitp:/fwwrw. faoebook com/terms.php?ref=pf), Privacy Pohcy (http:/fwww.facebook.com/palicy.php),
and a variety of references found with tremendous difficulty—if at all—throughout the Facebook site

(collectively referred to as “Terms of Use™ hereafter.)

Page 5
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25. FACEBOOK's Terms of Use intentionally mislead a member to believe members can prohibi
the use of their name and profile picture in advertisements:

You can use your privacy seitings to limit how your name and profile picture may be
associated with commercial, sponsored, or related content (such as & brand you like)
se-ved or enhanced by us. You give us permission to use your name and profile picture in
connection with that content, subject to the limits you place.

Statement of Rights and Responsibilities, Section 10.] http:/fwww.facebook.com/terms. php?ref=pf

26. Regarding Posts by a member, The Privacy Policy states, “You can control exactly who can ses
it at the time you create it.” (Privacy Policy, Section 3 http:/www.facebook.com/policy.php).

27.  In spite of the above misleading assertions in the Terms of Use, a member cannot prevent a Post,
Like, Check-in or other FACEBOOK application from taking a member’s name, photograph, like

or identity and using it as an endorsement for a Sponsored Story. From a buried Help Center pag:j
connected by any link within the Privacy Policy or Statement of Rights and Responsibilities pages,
FACEBOOK publishes the following qgestion and angwer:

Can I opt out of seeing or being featured in sponsored News Feed stories? While there is
no way to opt out of seeing ail or being featured in any Sponsored Stories, you can
remove specific stories by clicking the "X" displayed in the upper right side of a story
and choosing the appropriate option when prompted.

Sponsored Stories http://www.facebook.com/help/Pfaq=19723

28. The Terms of Use are “challenging” for members to understand. FACEBOOK, itself

acknowledges this:
Many websites’ privacy policies are challenging for people to understand because they
are often written for regulators and privacy advocates, not the majority of people who
actually use those websites. Our own privacy policy has been criticized as being “5830
words of legalese” and "longer then the U.S. constitution ~ without the amendments."

Okay, youre right. We agree that privacy policies can and should be more casily

“A Privacy, Policy Posted Re-imagined For Users Like You", Facebook Site Governance
(posted February 25, 2011)
htips:/fwww.facebook.com/fbsitegovernance

29. A member is never required to actively read or agree to the Terms of Use.
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'FACEBOOK neyér properiy-—if at all—notified- members of the drestic changes to FACEBOCK'g

| 36,  Ptaintiffs’ each Posted content to their News Feeds on or after January 25, 2011.

30.  No consent is sought or received for a member’s action in “Liking,” “Checking in,” to be used
an endorsement of the advertiser. Even if members had read the Terms of Use, they could not kno
that their likenesses and names would be later used in Sponsored Stories ads sent to their Faceboo
Friends: Spons&red Stories did not exist at the time the Class members first registered, and

advertising scheme.

31. Where a member is a minor, no consent for use of the member’s name, photograph, likeness or]

identity is sought or received from the minor’s parent or legal guardian.

32. The member is deprived of payment for the use of his or her profile image, name or any othej

information used in the endorsed advertisement.

33.  The Terms of Use contain the following choice of law clause:
You will resoive any ciaim, cause of action or dispute {"claim"} you have with us arising
out of or relating to this Statement or Facebook exclusively in a state or federal court
located in Santa Clare County. The laws of the State of California will govem this
Statement, as well as any claim that might arise between you and us, without regard to

conflict of law provisions. You agree to submit to the personai jurisdiction of the courts
located in Santa Clara County, California for the purpose of litigating atl such claims.

Statement of Rights and Responsibilities, Section 15.1 hitp://www.facebook. com/terms. php?ref=pf
Facts Conceming Plaintiffs’ Actiong

34. Plaintiffs Fraley, Wang and Mainzer each registered a Facebook account prior to January 25,
2011.

35.  Plaintiffs’, accounts have been continuously active since that time and up to the date of this

action.

37.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereupon allege that their posted content, or some part

thereof, along with their respective names, photographs, likenesses, or identitics, appeared a
endorsements of a Facebook advertiser, product or service on one or more of the Facebook pang

accessed by their Facebook Friends through the Facebook Sponsored Stories advertising service.

Page 7
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shown. That vaiue is measurable in dollars on a classwide basis.

38. Inother w-ords, their pictures and names were made to appear as part of advertisements for third
party companies whose products they may or may not have connected with once. Their “Friends” thusT
saw what appeared to be an advertisement appearing on their Facebook pages, with Plaintiff Fraley,
Plaintiff Wang or Plaintiff Mainzer’s profile images combined with statements such as “Angel Fral
likes [Product X],” “Paul Wang has checked in to [Advertiser location Y],” or “Susan Mainzer EI:J
[Product Z1.”

39. Plaintiffs never consented to the usc of their names, photographs likenesses, or jdentities to
advertise or-sell products or services or brands through the Facebook Sponsoréd Stories advertising
service. ’ )
40. The value of using the name, photograph, likeness or identity of a Friend is measurably highﬂj

than of using such items of a person unconnected with the person to whom the advertisement is bei

41.  Plaintiffs were deprived of fair market value remuneration for the use of their names,
i)hotograp}m liken_esses and identities, and were thus harmed.
42.  Plaintiffs’ reputations were harmed by the implied endorsement of advertisers or their producty
or services.

V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
43, Plaintiff Cig,s;_. The class sought to be represented is defined as follows:

All registered members of facebook.com as of January 24, 2011 in the United States
who are natural persons and who have had their names, photographs, likenesses or
identitiés used in a Facehook Sponsored Stories advertisement (“the Class").

Bxcluded from the Class are (8) FACEBOOK, its officers and directors, legal
reprcsentatéves, successors or assigns; (b) any entity in which FACEBOOK has or had a
controlling:intcrcst; (c) the judge to whom this case is assigned and the judge's immediate
fainily; (d)“any juror selected to hear this case.

44, The Class ié composed of thousands if not millions of persons, and is therefore so numerous that

joinder in this action would be impracticable. The disposition of their claims through this class act:oq
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will benefit Class members, the parties and the courts. Upon information and belief, FACEBOOK hﬁ
over 600 million members worldwide, and over 148 million persons in the Class.
45. Upon information.and belief, the identities and contact information of the individual members of
the Class ere available through FACEBOOK's clectronic reconds.

46. There is a well-defined community of interest in questions of law and fact affecting the Class]

These questions of jaw and fact predominate over individual questions affecting individual Clasq
members, includihg, but not limited to, the following:
o Whether Plaintiffs and the Class consented to the use of their names,
photograpﬁs, likenesses, or identities in Sponsored Stories;
¢ Whether FACEBOCK gained & commercial benefit or some other advantage by
using Plaintiff and the Class® names, photographs, likenesses, or identities in
Sponsored Stories;
¢ Whether Class members are entitled to damages as a result of FACEBOOK's
conduct, and, if so, what is the measure of those damages;
» Whether FACEBOOK's conduct described herein violated California's Unfhir
Competition Law (Cal. Bus, & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.);
» Whether FACEBOOK was unjustly enriched as a result of its conduct described
herein; and
¢ Whether FACEBOOK violated California Civil Code section 3344.
¢ What the value of an endorsement by a non-celebrity is in a social network
advertisement;
47. FACEBObK engaged in & common course of conduct giving rise to the legal rights sought to be
enforced by Class members. Similar or identical statutory and common law violations, busi
practices and injuries are involved. Individual questions, if any, pale by comparison to the n::nﬁ
common questions that doniinate.
48. The injuries sustained by members of the Class flow, in each instance, from a common nucleug
of operative facts, In each case, FACEBOOK caused or permitied the unauthorized appropriation of the
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58. FACEBOOK did not have Plaintiffs’ consent to do so.

Plaintiff and the Class members’ names, photographs, likenesses or identities without adequate or any
notice, consent, or opportunity to withdraw from participation.

49. Given the similar nature of the Class members' claims and the absence of material differences in
the statates and common laws upon which the Class members’ claims are based, a nationwide class will
be casily managed by the Court and the parties.

50. Because of the retatively small size of the individual Class members' claims, no Class memba{ |

could afford to seek legal redress on an individual basis.
51, Pluintiffs’ claims are typical of those of the Class as all members of the Class arc similarlyr
affected by FACEBOOKX's uniform and actionable conduct as alleged herein.
52. FACEBOOK has acted and failed to act on grounds generally applicabie to Plaintiffs and the
other members of the Class, requiring the Court's imposition of uniform rellef to ensure compatibld
standards of conduct toward the members of the Class.
53. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class and have retained counsej
competent and experienced in class action litigation. Plaintiffs have no interests antagonistic to, or i
conflict with, the Class that Plaintiffs seek to represeat. )
54.  Plaintiffis reserve the right to revise the above class definition based on facts learned in
discovery. |
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(Violation of California’s Right of Publicity Statute, Civil Code § 3344)
s5. Plaintiffs incorporate cach of the foregoing allegations ss if fuly set forth herein.
56. Caiifomia’fs Right of Publicity Statute, California Civil Code § 3344 et seq. protects personT
from the unauthorized appropriation of the person’s identity by another for commercial gain,
57, During the Class period, FACEBOOK and Does 1-100 knowingly used Plaintiffs' names,
photographs, or l_'i_kenesses to directly advertise or sell a product or service.

59. Plaintiffs received no compensation or other consideration for FACEBQOX’s {(and/or Does 14
100) use thereof,
60.  Plaintiffs were harmed by FACEBOOKs actions.
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61. Use of Plaintiffs’ names, photographs, and likenesses were directly comected to FACEBOOK'S
and/or Does 1-100"s commercial use.

62. FACEBOOK'sand Does 1-100’s actions were a substantial factor in Plaintiffs’ harm.
63. The advertisements were not used in conjunction with news, public affairs, a sports broadcast og}
account, or & pohncal campaign.

64. Eachincident is a separate and distinct violation of Cal. Civil Code § 3344
65. Plaintiffs and members of the Class therefore seck injunctive relief, and other such preliminary
and other equitable or declaratory relicf as may be appropriate.

66. Plaintiffs and members of the Class also scek remedy as provided for by Cal. Civ. Code
3344(a) in the amount equal to the greater of $750 per incident, or actual damages, any pmﬂj
attributable to FACEBOOK’s (and Does [-100's) illega! action and not taken into account into actual
demages punitive damages, attorneys fees and costs, and any relief 25 may be appropriate,

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17200)

67. Plaintiffs incorporate each of the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein,

63. As descril;?f:d herein, FACEBOOK's (and Does 1-100°s) nonconsensual use of its members
names, photographs, likenesses, and identities is a violation of California’s Right to Publicity Statute,
Civil Code § 3344, and of the common law privacy tort, appropriation of another’s likeness or identity}
for commercial gain. ' '
69. Thess violations satisfy the “unlawful” prong of the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), Cal. Bus,
& Prof, Code § 17200, et seq.
70. FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) violated the “fraudulent” prong of the UCL by explicitly
representing that” members have full control prevent their appearance in Facebook advertising|
including Spons:c;red Stories, when in reality there i8 no meaningful way to prevent one's name,
p}nmgragh, likesicss or identity from appearing as an endorsement in Sponsored Stories.
71.  Alternatively, to the degree the Terms of Use were modified to truthfully represent a member’s
inability to meaningfully opf out of Sponsored Stories, FACEBOOK violated the “fraudulent” prong of
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the UCL by knowingly and intentionally failing to seek and acquite informed consent regarding such
changes to the Terms of Use.
72. FACEBOOK violated the “unfair” prong of the UCL by leading members to believe they can op]

out of advertising endorsements, encouraging members to weave Facebook into their lives such that i

becomes indispensible, and then introducing an advertising service from which members are unable tof

opt out.

43.  FACEBOOK violated the “unfair” prong of the UCL by intentionally profiting from the
nonconsensual endorsements extracted from members without sharing those profits with those
members.

74. FACEBOOK’s unfair, deceptive and fraudulent practices originated from and/or occurred
primarily in California. Decisions concerning the creation of Sponsored Stories were made in
California, FACEBOOK mainiains aii or a subsiantial part of its computer systems that serve up
Facebook in California, and all or & substantial part of the code and content that comprise Sponsored
Stories is developed and deployed within and from California.

75. Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203, Plaintiffs seck an order of this Court permanent!
enjoining FACEBOOK {and Does 1-100) from continuing to engage in the uwnlawful, unfair an
fraudulent conduct described herein, Plaintiffs seek an order requiring FACEBOOK to (1) immediatel
cease the unjawful practices stated in this Complaint, and (2) award Plaintiff and the Class reasonabld

costs and attomeys’ fees pursuant to Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. § 1021.5.

76.  Plaintiffs each lost money to which they were entitled in the form of compensation for the use of
their images and‘ﬁames, and in which they had a vested interest, by virtue of FACEBOOK’s (and Doey
1-100's) conduct. They are entitled to restitution of such sums.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Unjust Enrichment)

77.  Plaintiff incorporates each of the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.
78. Plainiff and the Class have conferred a benefit upon FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100)
FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) has reccived and retained money from advertisers, a portion of which
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belong to Plaintiffs and the Class as & result of co-opting members names, photographs, likenesses and
identities, and placing them in paid-for advertisements—Sponsored Stories—as described herein.
79. FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) appreciates or has knowledge of said benefit.
80. Under principles of equity and good conscience, FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) should not be
permitted fo retain money belonging to Plaintiffs and the Ciass that it unjustly received as a result of itg
actions. ‘
81.  Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered loss as a divect resuit of FACEBOOK's (and Does 1-100°s)
conduct. _
82. Plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of the Class, seek the imposition of 2 constructive
trust on and restitution of the proceeds FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) received as a result of itq
conduct described herein, as well as attomey’s fees and costs pursuant to Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5.
83. PRAYER FOR RELIEF WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually and on behalf of the Class, pray)
for the following relief:
. Cerﬁfy this case as a class action on behalf of the Class defined above, appoint
Plaintiffs Angel Fraley, Paul Wang and Susan Mainzer as class representatives,
and appoint their counse] as Class co-counsel; ‘
s Declare that FACEBOOK's actions, as described herein, violate the California
Right to Publicity Act (Cal. Civ. Code § 3344), violate the Unfuir Competition
'Law, and have led to unjust enrichment;
¢ Award injunctive and other equitzible relief as is necessary to protect the interests
of the Plaintiffs and the Class, including, inter alia, an order prohibiting
_If_ACEBOOK from engaging in the wrongful and unlawful acts described herein;
* Disgorge FACEBOOK of all revenue camned from its Sponsored Stories feature
during the class period;
o Award damages, including statutory damages where applicable, to Plaintiffs and
the Class in an aniotmt to be determined at frial;
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causod by FACEBOOKs (and Does 1-100"s) conduct, and if its conduct is proved
willful, award Piaintiffs and the Class exempisry damages;
»  Awsard punitive damages;

o Awerd restitution against FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) for all money to which

Platmiffs and the Class aro ontitled in equity;
s Awmd Pleintiffs end tho Class their reasonshle litigation expenacs snd attomeys’
fees;

¢ Award Plaintiffs and the Class pro- and poskjudgment interest, o the extent

allownble; and
«  Avwnard such other and further relief as oquity snd justioe mey require.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all issws o

515 Polsom Street, 3rd Floor
, CA 94105
|

B s 5
Tm: (510) 725-4293

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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CIVIL LAWSUIT NOTICE :

Superior Caurt of Californla, County of Sants Giara CASENUMBER: ___ 131107196198

191 N. First St, San Jose, CA 95113
PLEASE READ THIS ENTIRE FORM

ELAINTIFF (the person suing): Within 60 days efter fiing the lawsull, you must seve each Defondant with the Complainf,
SWMAWMGRMMMMMMM andacupynilm Civil Lawsuit Notice, andynunmtﬁb
v«menptwfofmhsewbe

DEFENDANT (The person sued} You must do each of the followlng to protect your rights:

1. Youmuﬂﬁeawrﬂtenmpommhewmmﬁwmmm«mlnhec!efksmﬁmdtm
Coirt, within 30 deys of the dale you were served with the Summons and Compleint, :

2, Youmust serve by mall a copy of your writian response on the Pialmﬂ'aatbmoronha?iahﬂﬂtalnﬁfhasm
abmey(h%uveb;m#mmblmemadd!mthmwmaﬂamm.and

3. Youmust atiand the first Case Management Confarance.

Waming: i you, s the Defendant, do not follow these lutmeuorn.
you may automatically lose thla case, .

eererernesmm——ee ——

: You mmtmcsfunhamofcommme&mh:mmmm County of Santa Clars
Locﬂﬂvﬂﬂuhsandmomarm You can obiain legal information, view the rules and recaive forms, free of charge, from
the SeltHelp Canter af 99 Notre Dama Avanus, Sen Josa (408-882-2000 x-2026), wew.scsalfsarvica.on (Setect *Chvil®) or from:

= Stals Rules and Judiclal Councll Forms: Wﬂmmm@m
= {ccel Rules and Forms: hiio//www socsting

CASE MANAGEIENT CONFERENCE (CMC): Yﬂﬂm"ﬂmﬁfv‘h“ﬂﬂﬂﬁfpﬂm&md'm iha cass, In person or by
telephone, of loast 30-celendar days before the CMC. You mmmmmmmewmﬂamw
{(Judiciel Councl form CM-110) et least 15 calendar days befora the CMC.

You or your stiomey must sppedr af tho CHC, You may esk fo appear by falephons — see Local O Ride &

Yow Cuse Management Judge fs: _Homorable Peter Kirwen Dopartmont: ___ 8

The 1+ CHIC Ix scheduled for: (w&m Clatk of Courl)
Dafe; A b& 201 Time: 3:00 EM in Dupasiment: 8

Thae naxt CMC Is scheduled for: (Complated by parly ¥ the 1% CMC was contihued or has passed)
Date; Time: in Departmeant:

WA ' H ef parties have appeared and filed a completed ADR Stipulation Form focal

ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR);
fosm CV-5008) at st 16 days balors the CHC, lhe Court wil cancal the CMC and mal notcs of an ADR Stalus Conference.

Visk tha Court’s websits &t www.sccsuperioreourt :
Ammumammmmmmm andfaea.

WARNING; Senctions may be Imposed i you da not foflow the Caliomia Ruies of Coust or the Local Rules of Coust

R! of call the ADR Adninistralor (408-862:2100 x-2530) for a lst of
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA
ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION
INFORMATION SHEET / CIVIL DIVISION

Many casse can be resolved to the satisfaction of el parties without the teceasily of raditioand Biigation, which can be sxpentive,
time consuing, wad strepaful, The Court finds (hat it is b the bast intecests of the partios that tey particlpete in eliematives to
tracit{onad Sitigation, ingiding arbltrstion, madtadon, noatrel evaluxtion, specia! master end refssom, sud settissiont conferences.
Mmdlummumumnwmﬁmdmmmmmmmmmmungm'u,
unitss there is pood couse to dispenwe with the ADR requirernent.

What i ADR?

ADR {s the general tamm foe & wide variety of dispute resolution processes that are atternatives to litigation. Types of ADR
gﬂmkd&&mﬁhﬂm ubitration, nentral evalustion, special masters and refirecs, snd settiemand confsrences, smong others
What are the sdvaniagss of choosing ADR butead of Hrlgpaton?

ADR can hava 1 number of sdvantagea over livpation:

<ADK can nvulmo.)\diqr.mm be resolved In & matses of months, ar even weeks, while lidgadon can ske yoars.

< ADR a2 savs money. Attomey's ey, court couts, and oxpert foes can be reduced or avolded eliogether.

< ADR grovides move participation. Parties bave mote oppostsnities with ADR to expeess their intercsts nod ctucers, instead of
focasirg exchisively on lsgal rights,

< ADR provides mere cantral and Oexibility. Paties cam choces the AR process that ks most fikely to bring 4 etisfactary
revolution to their dispute, :

' < ADR can reduce strese. ADR encoutages coopertion anid cotnmnication, while discowraging the advezssria) stmosphere of

litfgation. Surveys of prrtiss wha hare participaed in an’ ADR process have found much; gicater satisfaction then with pasties who
have gone throgh litigation,

What are the walx formss of ADR offered bp the Conrtt

< Mediation ix sn informal, coafidential, fexible and non-binding process in the mediator hoips the partiests undenstend the
MatmmmprM“MMWMhmwmmﬁth,
mmmmwmqﬁmauMmmmmmdmpmmmmm
decide the sotation & the dispute; the pactios do.

«<The psrties want & con-adversary prosedure

< The partics kave 8 sontimeing fusinass or personal relstionship

< Communicstion preblesns wro imerfering with a resclution

<There is sn emotions! element involved

<Tho parties w intorested in sn injonction, consent Secroe, of ofher fonm of equitebls refisf

< Nawtral svalustion, sometimss called “Barly Moutral Bvalustion” or “ENE”, is an informal process In whick the evalsior, an
cxpotienoed neutral luwyes, heare s compact presentation of botk sldon of the cass, gives  non-binding sstcament of the
mmmmmmwmmmmmemunwmmwm
mmmmmmmmmmmmr-m»mm

Heutral evafuation may be eppropriate when:

« The pastlea are fer apari in tholz view of 030 Liw or yalue of the case
< The cass involves a tachnical lasue in which the evaluator has expartise _
<m¢mmm;ueuummmwuwmmmm

. <The partics ate Intereated fn an infunction, consent docres, o other form of equiiabls relief

-o¥ar.
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< Arbitration is & less forsal process than & trial, with nojury, The arbitretor bears the evidence and argunienis of the partios, Shen
makes & written decirlen. The pastion can agree ¥ binding or nacrbindlhg arbitntion. Inbinding artifration, the
arbitrmtor®s decision is finad end completely restives the cass, withowt the-opporknity for appeal. In non-binding
arbitration, the arbitratoc's doclsion sould sesoive the case, without th opportinky S sppoal, unless a party irely
rjecty the avbitior”s desision within 30 dxys and requeste s trisl. Private srbitraiors ars allowed to chirge for thelr tima,

Atbitretion qum{
< The sotion ¢ for peryonsl infury, propesty damage, or treach of contrent

< Witness testimony, under cath, needs fo be ovalntod
< An advisory opinion Is sougiit from an sxpetienced Btigator (if « non-binding srbitmtion)

< Clvit Judge ADR allowa parties to bavs x mediation or seitlement conference with an capsrienocd judge of the Superior Court.
Modiition is an bnfoomal, confidentist, floxible end non-binding proceei in which the judge helps tho parties to undersiand the
interests of everyone involved, and thelr prectical and legal cholces. A settitment conference bs sn informal process In whicshi te
Judge meets with the parties or theiraltomeys, hoars the Sacts of the disputs, helps identifyy isoes to be vescived, and necmally
siggerts A resolution that the pacties miy scoapt or uze ax « busiz for fazther negotiations. The request for mediation of wifloment
wnhc?nm?bpbpmbycﬂpuhdoa(mmm)upmt&-ﬂhofﬂﬁﬁvﬂmphhmuwmu.mhm
churge for this service,

Civil Judge ADR may be sppropriste when:
<'The parties have complex facts 0 review
« Tha oxae involves multipls pasties and problems -
< Tha comthouss surroundings would he helodizl to the ssnisment trocess

* < Specisl musiers nd ceferovs are noutral pitias who ey be appointd by thecourt 10 cbtaln Information or to ke speciic
finet findings thet may load to & resolution of 8 dizpute, -

Mlmﬂﬂuamhmhmm“hmw“m-mmdmﬁh_mmam
<ymmwmmwhmmm(amcnmmwmmmmu
fhélr atoeneys, fioars the Saols of thi dispute, Biclps identily Lasuci o be resoived, and nomsilly suggests w recalution thl the partics
may edoept or use 83 4 tasis for faxther negotiations,

Setijoment confecences can be effective when the authority or expertiss of the judga or exparioaced atormey may help the partios
reach & resolntion.

 1Phat Kind of digpates can ba resvived by ADRY

Althongh shme dirputes st §o 10 oourt, almost any dispute ean be resoived through ADR. This inoludes disputes involving
basiness mattors; clvil rights; oonatrction; constimer protection; contracis; defamstion;
propetiy; isbor; landlord/enant; medis; modioal melprectice and other profestional egligwce; nelghborhood problems;

partuacchipe; patonts; porsonss injurys Probate; produot Hability; propedty damage; roal astate; securities; aports; trede secres; ond
wrungfol dosth, sirroug other matior,

Whuuum;umﬁmuuﬂﬂmm appropricte form of ADR and & neztrel or posr cass, infermation abowd ADR
procedures, oranswart 1o ctker questions shosi ADR? ]

Contact:
Sants Clare County Superior Court Sents Clasn County DEPA. Coordinssoc
ADR Adminlstrater 08-792-2910
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